
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

18 May 2022 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - CORPORATE & COMMUNITY COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Corporate & Community Committee on 

Thursday, 26th May, 2022 at 6.30 pm 
in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Anton Dani  
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Alan Bell, David Brown, 

Frank Pickett, Judith Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and 
Judy Welbourn 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART I – PRELIMINARIES 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 
 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

Public Document Pack



 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Monday 23rd May.  
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 

1   BOSTON GUILDHALL RECOVERY (Pages 5 - 14) 
 

  A report by Phil Perry, Assistant Director – Leisure & Culture  
 

2   CULTURAL STRATEGY (Pages 15 - 58) 
 

 A report by Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director – Economic Growth  
 

3   WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 59 - 60) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 

 
Notes: 
 

The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Senior Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Tel. no 01205 314228 
Email: Pippa.rose@boston.gov.uk 
 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Tel. no: 01205 
314228  email: pippa.rose@boston.gov.uk as soon as possible. 
 

Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 

 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - CORPORATE & 
COMMUNITY COMMITTEE 
 

7 April 2022 

Present: Councillor Stephen Woodliffe (Chairman), Councillor Anton Dani (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Frank Pickett, Judith Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Paul Goodale and Judy Welbourn 
 
In attendance:  
Officers –  
Assistant Director - Assets, Anti-Social Behaviour Officer, Monitoring Officer, Manager – 
Public Sector, Mazars and Matthew Waller 
 
39   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies were received from Councillors Alan Bell and Martin Howard. Councillor Paul 
Goodale attended as Councillor Bell’s substitute and Councillor Judith Welbourn 
attended as Councillor Howard’s substitute. 
 
40   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed by the Committee and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
41   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared an interest in the report relating to Mayoral Support due 
to holding office as the current Deputy Mayor. 
 
42   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None 
 
43   MAYORAL SUPPORT 

 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report which explained that in 2016, the Council 
approved the Council’s transformation plan, which included a target for financial savings 
of £90,000 from the Civic and Mayoral budget. A review was undertaken and 
consideration was given to the proposals by the Corporate and Community Committee 
on 4 January 2018 and Cabinet on 21 February 2018.  
 
The decisions taken included removing the services of a Mayor’s Officer and the 
Mayoral car, with future Mayor’s being expected to drive themselves to engagements 
and be responsible for the Mayoral chains whilst on duty. A copy of the report was 
attached at Appendix A. 
 
The Chairman of the Committee had asked that Mayoral support be considered by the 
Committee in order to evaluate whether the current circumstances remained adequate 
and fit for purpose.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



Overview & Scrutiny - Corporate & Community Committee 
7 April 2022 
 

Those members who had previously held the office of Mayor spoke of their experiences 
for the information of the Committee. Members who held the office before 2018 shared 
their experiences of being Mayor prior to the changes in support being introduced.  
 
Some members expressed their concern following the release of a news article which 
related to the arrangements for storage of the Mayoral chains and their estimated value.  
Members voiced their disappointment that the information had been published in the 
public domain based on comments from fellow Councillors, which had consequently 
raised concerns for the Mayor’s safety when attending public engagements.  
 
All members were in agreement that having a Mayor’s Officer not only provided safety 
assurance to the Mayor but also provided a ceremonial and stately image to the office of 
Mayor, particularly when attending public events, which was then held in high regard. 
 
Having fully debated the issues raised by the previous review of civic arrangements, the 
Committee proposed that the most productive way forward would be to establish a Task 
and Finish Group to fully investigate the options available going forward and the future 
role of the Mayor.  
 
RESOLVED: That a Task and Finish Group be established to conduct a detailed 
review of the current level of support to the Mayor.  
 
44   JOINT SCRUTINY BETWEEN PARTNER COUNCILS IN THE SOUTH EAST 

LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 
 

The Monitoring Officer presented a report, which outlined a proposal for the three 
Council’s in the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to undertake joint 
scrutiny on matters of common strategic importance and the proposed process to 
achieve this. The report, also proposed the establishment of a Joint ICT Strategy Task 
and Finish Group. 
 
The report stated that the establishment of a joint scrutiny function to consider matters in 
depth from a partnership perspective would be beneficial and support the co-ordinated 
partnership approach. 
 
At an initial meeting between the Chairmen of the Council’s scrutiny committees a list of 
potential scrutiny items was considered, largely taken from the Annual Delivery Plan.  It 
was recognised that whilst scrutiny committees would wish to identify their own priorities 
for joint scrutiny there was general support for a Joint Task and Finish Group to consider 
an ICT Strategy.  The proposed scope for the review was set out at Appendix B of the 
report.  It was noted that the Group would not begin to meet immediately as it was 
anticipated that transport would be the first scrutiny topic to be considered.  
 
The Chairman of Environment and Performance informed the Committee that at the last 
meeting it was agreed that a Joint Transport Task and Finish Group be created.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
1. That the proposals for joint scrutiny arrangement, as set out in Appendix A, 

be approved. 
 

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Corporate & Community Committee 
7 April 2022 

 

2. That the scope for the proposed Joint ICT Strategy Task and Finish Group, 
as set out in Appendix B, be approved. 

 
3. That three members be appointed to the proposed Joint ICT Strategy Task 

and Finish Group.  
 
4. That the Task and Finish Group be authorised to determine the detail of its 

remit and the required lines of enquiry and witnesses.  
 
45   ANNUAL SAFEGUARDING REPORT 2021 - 2022 

 
The Community Safety Officer presented a report which provided an overview of the 
Council’s safeguarding activity from 1 April 2021 to 31st March 2022, which sought to 
provide assurance that the Council was vigilant in keeping people safe and to challenge 
any areas which could further improve the Council’s current approach to guard against 
complacency.  
 
The report stated that all agencies, including District Councils, were required to comply 
with national legislation, statutory guidance and locally agreed multi-agency policies and 
procedures in order to safeguard children and adults, including those affected by 
domestic abuse, child abuse, violent extremism, hate crime, county lines and modern 
slavery. 
 
The Council’s Safeguarding Policy was subject to an annual review to reflect any 
changes in national legislation or guidance, local procedures and learning from audits 
and case reviews.  The policy, which was now a joint policy with East Lindsey District 
Council, was approved in May 2021 and all staff and councillors had been asked to sign 
the updated policy. 
 
The Council was proactive in supporting the Prevent agenda which sought to identify, 
support and protect those at risk of becoming involved in violent extremism.  A senior 
manager had been identified as the Prevent lead for the Council.  Training was provided 
as part of the safeguarding training programme for staff and Councillors, which was 
currently being updated as part of the policy review.  
 
The Council’s Safeguarding Strategic Plan for 2021/22 was attached at Appendix B and 
identified key tasks for the year.  The plan remained flexible to meet needs which could 
not be foreseen, such as an incident which required officer involvement in a Serious 
Case Review or a Domestic Homicide Review and resulted in other activity being 
rescheduled. 
 
A full overview of the activity undertaken from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 was set out 
in Appendix A and identified which tasks had been completed, or were on track/in 
progress or overdue/concerns for delivery. 
 
Members questioned why a number of the actions in the activity summary were red 
which indicated being overdue or areas of concern for delivery. The Community Safety 
Officer assured Members that activities with a red status had been improved upon since 
the report was produced.  
 
The Committee noted the report.   

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Corporate & Community Committee 
7 April 2022 
 

 
46   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Committee added; Housing Benefit Update, Guildhall Covid Recovery update and 
Cultural Strategy to the next meeting on the 26th May.  
 
Members also discussed bringing the United Lincolnshire Hospital Trust item to a joint 
scrutiny meeting at a later date, allowing members from both Committee’s the 
opportunity to be a part of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting Closed at 8.38 pm 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Corporate and Communities Committee 

DATE: 26 May 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Boston Guildhall Recovery  

To Update the Committee on the Guildhall’s recovery 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Richard Austin 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Leisure & Culture 

Phil Perry 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

On the 14 April 2022 a request was made to provide a report on the recovery of Boston 

Guildhall in regards recovering from COVID after the Corporate and Community Committee 

requested this be added to their work programme for the 26 May 2022 meeting.  

This report gives information and context on that topic, incorporating activity throughout the 

pandemic and reviewing current recovery progress. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the report is noted by members. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 To enable members to be informed of current recovery levels as requested and to note this 

information. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

N/A 

 Page 5

Agenda Item 1



1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 This report on the recovery of Boston Guildhall had been produced at the request of the 

Corporate and Communities Committee. 

 

2. REPORT 

Resilience through the pandemic 

2.1 The Guildhall, though affected through COVID, remained operational throughout the 

majority of the pandemic. It was open to the public with creative responses to access whilst 

restrictions were in place during periods where the government allowed museums to be 

visited and the team closely liaised with couples getting married to facilitate or rearrange 

ceremonies as guidance stated. In our Visit England ‘Visitor Attraction Quality Assurance 

Scheme’ assessment we not only scored highly, retaining our accreditation, but received 

praise for the visitor access systems we had created to visit the museum.  

 

2.2 Staff also worked on collection and documentation projects supporting the museums fully 

accredited status with Arts Council England (ACE) throughout periods of closure completing 

required activities. 

 

2.3 The team based at the Guildhall consist of under 3 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) posts, which 

not only undertook this site based work, but continued to co-ordinate and assist delivery of 

major projects such as the Boston Buoys initiative, the Structures on The Edge project and 

Experience Boston project, the latter wholly procuring, commissioning, manufacturing and 

installing of an historic interpretative and place scheme and an arts trail during COVID. 

Team members also supported testing sites and had involvement on the Welcome Back 

Fund and other initiatives. 

 

2.4 Additionally throughout the pandemic the team consistently and without fail supported and 

facilitated the frequent site use of the Guildhall for all requests for Council, Corporate, 

Committee and Management meeting purposes both inside and outside of normal opening 

days and operating hours at a time when Municipal Buildings and other council owned 

assets were unable to accommodate those meetings. 

 

2.5 Usage as a wedding venue and footfall as a visitor attraction was significantly affected as a 

result of the pandemic with periods of enforced closure and a ban on civil ceremonies. This 

resulted in increased workloads in designing safe systems of access, new methods of 

working and resulted in extended, close liaison with wedding couples in sharing changing 

guidance in existing wedding provision and in the rescheduling of events. 

Access and Activity 

2.6 In regards to weddings, the current situation is now similar to pre pandemic usage. 

Historically wedding usage was 2018 (6), 2019 (8), 2020 (1), 2021 (6), 2022 (10).  Of the ten 

ceremonies booked in 2022, four of these are ones rearranged due to COVID with the six 

remaining booked specifically for this year. There are also four bookings already confirmed 

for 2023. 

 
Page 6



2.7 In regards to usage and footfall it is more difficult to quantify and this coming year will be a 

benchmark to establish the recovery. Under normal circumstances the door count would be 

used to quantify visitors and usage however throughout extended periods of closure in 

lockdown lasting to August 18, 2020 and then with the Guildhall having pre-booked 

appointments until October 2020 access was undertaken through the front door, not 

activating door counters. The majority of corporate usage was facilitated through the front 

door too, to enable control of public access again without activating door counters. From 

October 2020 the Guildhall remained closed to the public until June 30, 2021.  

 

2.8 The Guildhall subsequently reopened with measures to limit access and control access 

which gradually eased in line with guidance. To compare access post reopening looking at 

the three quarters from 30 June, 2021 to March 30, 2022 the average, captured by the door 

counter, is approximately 2500 a quarter. This compares to the same period starting June 

2019 where the average is approximately 2901 per quarter. It should be noted that as many 

events and meetings since June 2021 have required entrance and exit through the front 

doors, not registering on the door counter, that this is an underestimate of building usage. 

Maximising the commercial offer for all whilst safeguarding our heritage 

2.9 Events based at the Guildhall are starting to become popular again and a more inclusive 

and collaborative approach is being investigated in the delivery of some of these. An 

example being the very popular Model Fairground show which has historically tried to 

accommodate exhibition and ‘pop up café’ activity on site to test commercial success. This 

has not had particular success and the offer to provide refreshments to the event with the 

special opening of Fydell House and Gardens was extended along with the opportunity to 

exhibit additional material. This collaborative event saw door count numbers at the 

Guildhall increase from the 2019 of circa 370 to 2022 at 417 with donations to the Guildhall 

and revenue for our partner site through refreshment benefiting both. Other shared events 

are to be explored in the year and we are looking to programme some specialist talks based 

around the themes shared below in 2.11 - 2.13. We will be recruiting to the vacant position 

of Museum, Events and Venue officer in the upcoming weeks which will enable more 

specific programming to develop. 

 

2.10 In the future planning of activities our plans are to recognise fully the duty of care 

necessary for a Grade 1 listed historic building of national and international significance, 

and its collections, which operates as a museum and visitor attraction. The usage of the 

building for weddings and external hire and events will be consistent with balancing the 

needs of the site to diversify commercially whilst caring for the site and collections and 

maintaining an appropriate level of access throughout the year for visitors and users. 

Development work 

2.11 With the formation of the South East Lincolnshire Partnership (SELP) the service is 

instigating and developing cross partnership heritage development themes and cultural 

strategy that can work together in promoting the heritage offer of the area. The 2030 

anniversary of 400 years since the founding of Boston, Massachusetts by influential 

members of congregation of the Reverend John Cotton of St Botolph’s Church is a 

significant date to work toward. Research and story development across the authority areas 

is being initiated and the individuals and incorporating locations from Alford to Boston and 

Spalding are to be combined with an understanding of the events that led to this event.  
Page 7



2.12 Other high status American and ‘New World connections will be allied to this such as John 

Smith of Alford and the foundation of Jamestown, Virgina in 1607 and the Australian stories 

will be brought forward to share the bigger picture of exploration and influence. Key 

amongst these is the ‘Age of Enlightenment’ and in particular Sir Joseph Banks with strong 

associations across all partnership areas and his influence as a Scientist, President of the 

Royal Society, Founder of Kew Gardens and the Royal Horticultural Society and as an 

explorer travelling with Captain Cook to Australia. Alongside other eminent explorers of the 

time in George Bass and Matthew Flinders it will be possible to present a unique offer 

across the SELP to engage residents and visitors and inform cultural programmes with 

partners such as the ACE funded Transported project. The service is brokering 

conversations with partner sites including Ayscoughfee Hall and Gardens and the Museum 

of Spalding Gentleman’s Society to help develop and best share these stories as well as 

discussing potential for arts commissioning and programming with Transported Arts. 

 

2.13 This development of themes and projected development of product is intended to enable 

the opportunity for closer collaboration across the partnership, particularly working closely 

with the Place Team to best engage our communities and visitors. This development of 

heritage themes being developed within the service are being incorporated into an East 

Lindsey National Portfolio Organisation bid to ACE led by the Place Team and Leisure and 

Culture which also incorporates a wider offer of developmental product. Boston Guildhall 

Museum and Ayscoughfee Hall Museum are to be applicant ‘hubs’ for this funding stream 

as qualifying venues to access this fund due to their Fully Accredited status as museums 

which demands the appropriate, professional governance and collections management and 

more widely over the systems and procedures in place to ensure the appropriate usage, 

care and documentation of the sites and their collections. Both sites are required to 

demonstrate this to rigorous standards to ACE at regular returns and we are currently 

working with Ayscoughfee on their current return. 

 

2.14 With the formation of the new directorate areas in October 2021, the Guildhall Museum, 

Arts, Public Realm Arts and interpretative areas of Heritage (excluding the historic built 

environment and their associated capital programmes) sit within the Communities 

Directorate within the Area of Leisure and Culture. The preparation of a specific service 

development action plan that recognise cross partnership collaborative need and 

opportunities is in development. The circa 3 FTE posts (which includes front of house 

provision) of this small team based from the Guildhall will continue to deliver a quality 

service beyond the direct responsibilities of the Guildhall and continue its work in the 

development of arts and cultural projects and programming. Alongside the successful 

project delivery noted in 2.3 continued work with Transported, who have just successfully 

entered their third phase of ACE funding within its Creative People and Places programme, 

will continue to delivery meaningful and impactful projects that engage our communities 

and visitors with culture and the arts as well has continuing to incrementally improve the 

cultural public realm and the vibrancy of the offers across Boston and South Holland as well 

as their programs moving into East Lindsey and working closely with other organisations. 

The service will be working with Transported to enable the delivery and development of 

their new business plan as well as evolving new projects to respond to the themes and 

developmental areas outlined in 2.11-2.13 above, with creative commissioning to best 

enable the effective sharing of these stories in innovative ways. The service will continue to 

develop the historic interpretation relevant to the partnership and the site and develop 
Page 8



exhibitions that draw on the rich material within their collections and those of partner sites. 

There is an ambition to deliver a compressive and inclusive heritage narrative across the 

partnership that enables programmes and funding to be accessed and deliver quality 

engagement programmes and this is being led by this service.   

  

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1 Looking at the available information in the site-specific operation of Boston Guildhall it can 

be seen that it is recovering well from the pandemic, though further data from this year will 

be used to benchmark future progress. The small service delivers far beyond the 

operational activity of the Guildhall as a site alone with significant and tangible 

contributions to improvements in the public realm and future potential informing and 

contributing to the programming of activity across the partnership. Its professional 

management and activity in the care of site and collections as a museum enabling the 

exploration of funding streams across the partnership that would otherwise not be 

available. The service is full of opportunity moving forward within the new directorate and 

a focussed development as a museum site and hub to tell the evolving stories will form the 

basis to work collaboratively with the Place Team, partner sites and delivery partners to 

maximise opportunities for engagement. 

 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

N/A 
 
 
 

Page 9



IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

None 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 

FINANCIAL 

None 
 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

None 

REPUTATION 

None 

 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 
Page 10



 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

None 

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of 
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap 
between the top performing and other areas closing. 

Research and 
Development 

By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside 
the Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third 
over the Spending Review period, with that additional government funding 
seeking to leverage at least twice as much private sector investment over 
the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be 
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services, 
simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

Digital 
Connectivity 

By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G 
coverage, with 5G coverage for the majority of the population. 

Education By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In 
England, this will mean 90% of children will achieve the expected standard, 
and the percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the worst 
performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In 
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing 
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people 
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Page 11



Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Housing By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of 
first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is 
for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with 
the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal 
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a 
simplified, long-term funding settlement. 

 

ACRONYMS 

None 

APPENDICES 

None 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Phil Perry 

Assistant Director Leisure and Culture 

phil.perry@boston.gov.uk 

Signed off by: Name and full contact details 

Approved for publication: Name of Councillor (if required) 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



0 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

East Lindsey and Boston 
A Cultural Framework for Renewal 
 

 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 2



1 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Foreword  
To be written by both councils – few paras.  
  

SO Festival, Skegness 

P
age 16



2 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Contents 
Vision Page 4. 

Context Page 5. 

Four Strategic Themes for 
Cultural Renewal 

Page 14. 

100 Voices from Boston and 
East Lindsey 

Page 16. 

Theme 1. Culture, Health and 
Wellbeing 

Page 18. 

Theme 2. Culture for All Page 19. 

Theme 3. Cultural Places Page 21. 

Theme 4. Cultural Infrastructure Page 23. 

Cultural Partnership Page 25. 

A Cultural Framework and 
Action Plan  

Page 26. 

  
Kinema in the Woods, Woodall Spa 

Kinema in the Woods, Woodhall Spa 

P
age 17



3 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

This Cultural Framework for Boston and East 
Lindsey is commissioned by the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. It is supported by 
Arts Council England and project managed by 
Magna Vitae. It is undertaken by Tom Fleming 
Creative Consultancy. 
 
The Cultural Framework is informed by extensive 
collaboration and engagement with communities 
across Boston and East Lindsey. Multiple 
workshops, interviews and a survey enabled the co-
creation of a shared vision and agenda for culture-
led renewal. 
 
This sets out core themes and a set of strategic 
priorities for culture to drive renewal in this 
distinctive, compelling and culturally rich part of 
Lincolnshire.  
 
Thank you to all who have contributed to this 
Cultural Framework for Renewal.  

North Sea Observatory, Mablethorope 

Sutton on Sea Collonade – pre-redevelopment. 

P
age 18



4 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 

Vision 
 
Boston and East Lindsey will be known for their 
cultural dynamism, as places where every 
community takes part to create a distinctive cultural 
ecosystem which connects heritage to a shared 
future, drives inclusive development in the visitor 
economy and other key sectors, and contributes to 
health and wellbeing.  
  

P
age 19



5 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Context 
 
This Cultural Framework for Boston and East Lindsey 
presents an opportunity to shape a shared strategic approach 
to culture while retaining a focus on their distinctive qualities. 
The establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership1  lays a platform for new collaboration 
and exchange and provides opportunities to build scale and 
drive impact through culture, with ambitious plans for town 
centre renewal, rural renaissance, a revitalised tourism offer, 
and a diverse and inclusive economy. This new partnership 
also provides opportunities for coordinating the development 
of cultural capacity and facilitating innovation through culture 
which can bring communities together and enhance wellbeing 
as we recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and look to the 
future.  
 
Covid-19 has caused immense suffering and generated 
uncertainty across every area of society. It has also brutally 
exposed the fragility of core economic sectors, including 
tourism and the cultural and creative industries, which depend 
on micro enterprises and freelancers and which thrive through 
interactions with audiences. In a 2020 Report2, the RSA 
estimated that one in three jobs are at risk due to the 
pandemic with East Lindsey one of the most exposed areas 
due to its dependence on hospitality and seasonal tourism. 
Culture plays an important role in the visitor economy of 
Boston and East Lindsey, with festivals and events a key 

 
1 This also includes South Holland District.  
2 https://www.thersa.org/press/releases/2020/one-in-three-jobs-in-parts-of-britain-
at-risk-due-to-covid-19-local-data-reveals 

element of the overall experience and cultural organisations 
and artists dependent on a blend of income, including that 
generated through tourism. Covid-19 has proved damaging in 
the capacity for income generation. But it has also, through 
the uplift in domestic tourism experienced between 
lockdowns, benefited from UK audiences looking again at 
local opportunities for days out and short stays.  
 
Covid-19 has changed the way we live, work and connect. 
While many have missed the joy and richness that taking part 
in live and in-person cultural activity brings, the ability to 
create meaningful interactions digitally brings many new 
opportunities to reach new audiences in new ways. The shift 
towards increasing self-employment and working from home, 
including the move some have made from cities to small 
towns and villages, provides opportunities for Boston and East 
Lindsey to build a talent pool of artists, cultural producers and 
small creative businesses.  
 
Covid-19 has also required us all to reconsider what we value 
and what we need, with culture increasingly recognised as a 
vital part of a healthy, fulfilled life and as critical to a more 
balanced and diverse economy. The connection between 
culture and wellbeing is increasingly well understood, as 
demonstrated through a recent report by Arts Council England 
which monitored the role of culture in supporting health and 
wellbeing during the pandemic and its role in our recovery3.   
 

3 The Role of Arts During the Covid-19 Pandemic, Alexandra Bradbury, Katey 
Warran, Dr Hei Wan Mak & Dr Daisy Fancourt, Arts Council England 2021. 

P
age 20



6 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

However, this Framework is not just about post-Covid 
recovery through culture. It is about long-term renewal: 
building stronger, safer, happier communities; enhancing 
quality of life and quality of place; diversifying the economy 
and nurturing opportunities for all. 
 
This Framework builds on the existing cultural assets in 
Boston and East Lindsey: a rich heritage with each settlement 
deeply connected to its past; a varied cultural landscape, from 
seaside entertainment to lively village halls, innovative 
festivals to inspirational public art; an increasingly diverse 
population contributing to cultural dynamism and bringing 
fresh international connections; and a distinctive geography of 
waterways and Wolds, coastal dunes, arable landscapes and 
woodlands. Boston and East Lindsey are already places of 
culture. 
 
This Framework also builds on significant progress in recent 
years to support cultural activity, build capacity, and 
demonstrate commitment to excellence and innovation in 
cultural infrastructure, partnership and programming. This is 
evidenced in the growth of festivals and events, which 
connect local communities to international best practice (e.g. 
SO Festival and the work of Transported in Boston); in the 
work of artists and cultural producers; and in the ambition for 
excellence in both urban and rural cultural infrastructure and 
programming, with Magna Vitae playing an important 
facilitating role and fresh partnerships (such as with the 
University of Lincoln) are connecting the coast to the county. 
The seeds have been sown for this Framework to provide a 
structured approach to long-term culture-led renewal which 

will build pride, connect communities, and contribute to the 
area’s renaissance. 
 
Levelling up and inclusive growth 
The strategic context for this strategy includes the heightened 
national focus on investing in areas which have missed out on 
the economic growth that other more prosperous areas have 
enjoyed. For Boston and East Lindsey, this is already 
translating into Towns Fund deals which will bring in over £70 
million to support new and improved infrastructure, develop 
transport links, nurture skills, increase employability, grow 
businesses and enhance the overall quality of place. Culture 
is an integral theme across all three Towns Fund Deals – in 
Boston, Skegness and Mablethorpe, recognised for the role it 
can play in placemaking, regenerating historic buildings, 
attracting visitors, boosting the economy and building civic 
pride. 
 
The area is also hopeful that it will be successful in 
applications to the next round of Levelling Up funding in 2022. 
Culture can play a major role in levelling up for Boston and 
East Lincolnshire: supporting talent development and 
employability, galvanising town centres, diversifying and 
innovating across the visitor economy, and building capacity 
and confidence for all communities. In turn, this will build a 
dynamic cultural ecosystem for Boston and East Lindsey 
which supports sustainable long-term development. 
 

P
age 21



7 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

The Corporate Strategy for East Lindsey 2020-20304 sets 
out an ambitious agenda where “everybody has a chance to 
thrive”. This includes priorities for the revitalisation of town 
centres, enhanced health and wellbeing, environmental 
sustainability, an uplift in entrepreneurship and business 
development, and a focus on a dynamic and resilient visitor 
economy. Culture is the golden thread which connects these 
priorities and will be central to the area’s sustainable and 
inclusive development.  
 
Boston’s bid for City Status to coincide with the Queen’s 
Platinum Jubilee will draw from the area’s compelling cultural 
heritage and describe the ways culture continues to drive 
renewal, with diverse influences from Eastern Europe and 
beyond continuing a long history of international in- and out-
migration.  
 
 
A Greater Lincolnshire – County wide initiatives 
This Cultural Framework also builds from and connects to a 
range of local strategies and strategic partnerships where 
culture is increasingly to the fore of agendas in skills, tourism, 
economic growth, social care, health and wellbeing and 
environment.  

 
4 https://business.visitlincolnshire.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/11/ELDC-
Corporate_Strategy_2020_to_2030_single_pages.pdf 

In 2017 Lincolnshire’s Cultural strategy was launched with five 
core themes each of which is still relevant to the area and 
very much inform the thinking of this Framework 5: 

- Inspiring Children & Young People  
- Nurturing, Attracting, & Retaining Talent  
- Growing Participation & Wellbeing  
- Supporting the Economy  
- Strengthening Places & Communities  

In 2019, the Creative Lincoln Shire Project, led by the 
Lincoln University of Lincoln and local partners including the 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) and 
the County Council, identified priorities for investment and 
support to drive inclusive growth through culture. Many of its 
findings are relevant to this Cultural Framework – not least the 
overall finding: 

“Lincolnshire has emergent, but undeveloped, cultural and 
creative industries. The County has not significantly benefitted 
from the very high growth of the creative industries nationally 

and internationally and lacks the hubs and associated 
agglomeration effects seen elsewhere. The quality of place, 
access to talent relatively low cost of living, and strong local 

culture, all point to the potential of establishing a high 
growth and high value creative economy:” 

 

5 Placing Culture & Creativity at the Heart of Lincolnshire: Lincolnshire’s Cultural 
Strategy 2017  

 

P
age 22



8 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

The Creative Lincoln Shire research identified coastal 
Lincolnshire as growing in terms of cultural tourism, festivals 
and events, all of which provide talent pathways for a strong 
and sustainable cultural ecosystem. In addition, the research 
outlined how:  
 

“Market towns and villages across the County 
are becoming micro-hubs for creative businesses which can, 

with the right network and support infrastructure, build 
capacity for growth and innovation”. 

 
The research cites festivals as key drivers for innovation, 
talent and market development, and as catalysts for inward 
investment and place-making.  
 
The Greater Lincolnshire LEP’s Strategy for Inclusive 
Growth prioritises the visitor economy and a tourism offer that 
attracts higher spending visitors throughout the year 
underpinned by a vibrant creative and cultural offer, 
demonstrating how critical the sector is. It also highlights the 
importance of the creative industries – identifying over 3,000 
businesses across the county – as a small but growing sector, 
with an important role to play in skills development and 
employment growth. 
 
The LEP is focussed on skills with particular priorities being 
addressing the skills challenges of the next decade, including 
the need to replace people leaving work through retirement 
and the need for more people to fill technical and professional 
jobs. It prioritises inspiring and supporting young people to 
stay and work in the area. 
 

The establishment of a new Visitor Economy Board for 
Lincolnshire and the expansion of Visit Lincoln to cover the 
whole County as the business-led Destination Lincolnshire 
reflects a new strategic approach to growing tourism. The new 
Board will seek to grow the tourism sector estimated to be 
worth £2.39 Billion and employing 30,000 people. As well as 
Skegness, the UK’s 4th most popular holiday resort, Boston 
and East Lindsey’s diverse tourism offer stretches from the 
natural beauty of the Wolds and coastline to aviation and 
second world war heritage. With culture and heritage integral 
to growing the tourism sector and encouraging visitors to take-
in a wider footprint of the area, Boston and East Lindsey can 
become hubs for new types of cultural tourism based on 
shared itineraries which interweave contemporary culture, 
heritage, nature and wellbeing. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire (2018) 
sets out an ambitious agenda for improving health and 
wellbeing throughout the County. In many of the areas it 
prioritises, arts and culture are already making a difference, 
with the potential to do much more in the future. These 
include the focus on improving mental health – something that 
organisations including Transported in Boston have been 
focussed on. Prevention – across health and care – is an 
overarching theme along with supporting people to get work 
and stay in employment. Engaging with arts and culture has 
been shown to be as vital to preventing ill-health as physical 
activity. 
 
 
 

P
age 23



9 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Arts Council England - Support for Priority 
Places 
Arts Council England’s 10-year Strategy, Let’s Create, and its 
Delivery Plan for 2021-2024, set out priorities for future work 
which will help drive the impact that culture can deliver across 
the country. This includes a renewed commitment to a place-
based approach (and levelling up) which will see investment 
targeted at ‘left-behind places’ which include Boston and East 
Lindsey as well as other nearby places: North East 
Lincolnshire, Fenland and Peterborough. While the 
mechanisms through which support priority places will be 
delivered are still being finalised, there will be increased 
support to ensure that areas which currently receive less than 
average grant funding can grow their cultural capacity. The 
approach will also see closer working between Arts Council 
England and other strategic bodies such as English Heritage 
and the National Lottery Fund for Heritage: to coordinate 
approaches and maximise shared investment.   
 
The four investment principles set out by Arts Council 
England provide a good framework for prioritising investment 
and support for Boston and East Lindsey: 
 

- Ambition and Quality: a commitment to supporting 
ambitious cultural organisations and artists committed 
to quality, connected to the public and investing in 
training and skills. This is already a priority for 
organisations in Boston and East Lindsey, something 
that the Town’s Fund investment will help deliver and 
which will connect the culture sector to the broader 
strategies at a Lincolnshire level. 

 
- Dynamism: a commitment to invest in organisations 

strengthening their governance and leadership, 
developing the skills and wellbeing of their workforce, 
improving their data culture and adopting appropriate 
new technologies across their business. New dynamic 
ways of working, including utilising digital technology, 
rural touring and the reanimation of heritage for 
contemporary cultural practice, all feature across 
Boston and East Lindsey, while networks such as the 
SOcial are bringing opportunities for new and emerging 
cultural leaders. There is clearly much to be done here 
in terms of growing the support for artists and 
producers of all ages. Joining together organisations 
and programming, and generating new types of 
innovative cultural practice.  

 
- Environmental responsibility: a commitment to 

cultural organisations and individuals leading the way 
in their approach to environmental responsibility. In an 
area where the risk of flooding and wider effects of 
climate change are already experienced, this is already 
a priority for Boston and East Lindsey, and connecting 
culture to the natural environment through projects and 
infrastructure is understood to be critical. 

 
- Inclusivity and relevance: a commitment to equality 

and fairness, and encouragement to cultural 
organisations which draw on a wider range of views 

P
age 24



10 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

and experiences. Organisation’s such as Transported 
in Boston have national reputations for community led 
cultural development, while smaller organisations 
across the area are driven by volunteers working in 
community settings. With the impact of the Brexit 
referendum still very raw, with challenges of talent loss 
and bridge-building for the area’s diverse population, 
cultural renewal can only be achieved if every 
community feels shared and equal ownership of the 
area’s cultural future.  

 
Wider Opportunities 
As well as hopefully seeing the worst of the pandemic 
end in 2022, a number of events and festivals present 
opportunities for collaborative cultural development in 
Boston and East Lindsey. For example: 
 

- Unboxed: Creativity in the UK6, which runs from March 
to October will be the largest creative programme ever 
in the UK with 10 nationwide programmes mixing 
science, technology, engineering, mathematics and the 
arts which will engage audiences in person, online on 
tv and radio.  
 

- The Commonwealth Games in Summer 2022 will be 
backed up by Birmingham 2022 – a £12 million cultural 

 
6 https://unboxed2022.uk/ 
7 Applications open in January 2022 for small grants between £750 and £10,000. 

programme of 250 commissioned projects and 150 
community events. 
 

- The Queen’s 70th Jubilee will see community centred 
cultural activity in June 2022, supported by the £5 
million Let’s Create Jubilee Fund7.  
 

- Kaunas, Lithuania, will be European Capital of Culture 
in 20228 – offering ‘One Big Stage for Europe’, 
including multiple collaborations with arts and cultural 
organisations from different countries. With such strong 
Lithuanian connections in this part of Lincolnshire, 
opportunities for cultural exchange are possible, even if 
the UK is now a ‘third country’ to the European Union.  
 

- Tourism renewal. The Government’s Tourism Recovery 
Plan (DCMS 2021) sets out a commitment to re-build 
and reinvigorate tourism, with a focus on recovering 
domestic overnight trip volume and spend to 2019 
levels by the end of 2022, and inbound visitor numbers 
and spend by the end of 2023. To deliver this will 
involve a regional focus – levelling up impact, with a 
focus on extending the average visitor stay, increasing 
resilience, enhancing the visitor experience and 
increasing accessibility. The cultural sector of Boston 
and East Lindsey stands to benefit from this 
programme and can contribute to its effective delivery. 

8 https://kaunas2022.eu/en/ 

P
age 25



11 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Events, festivals and cultural development activities 
across Lincolnshire and in nearby North Norfolk, 
present opportunities for collaboration and exchange. 
By building capacity across this wider geography, 
Boston and East Lindsey can become hubs of cultural 
development with a scale and sustainability unavailable 
by just working locally. The emergent concept of the 
‘Midlands Coast’ – from the Humber to the Wash, can 
provide a strategic narrative for large-scale cultural 
renewal which drives a renewal of the tourism offer.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 26



12 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 BOSTON – Sample of 
cultural highlights 
 

 

   

The market town of Boston (now bidding to be a city) has a remarkably rich history. In the 13th Century it was the 
second largest port in the country, ranking it is part of the Hanseatic League – of which it is one of five UK 
members today. Many of the original Pilgrims on the Mayflower set off from the town, including the founder of the 
city of Boston in Massachusetts. The wider borough (population 65,000) today is notable for its football club, 
diverse population, port, and the importance of food production to the local economy. The town deal, worth £21.9 
million will:  

“achieve sustainable economic growth and pride of place through bold urban design, digital solutions and 
connected communities. This will launch Boston into the future, build on its unique heritage and make our town an 
exciting place to live, work, invest and visit for generations to come.”  

Venues and Community spaces 
Include the Gliderdrome, a unique 
concert venue, The Beonna at All Saints, 
a focal point for the community, Centenary 
Methodist Church, a venue used for 
community meals, concerts, homeless 
housing project and much more. 
 

Libraries 
Boston Library – Housed in the County Hall, hosts 
activities for adults and children including arts and 
crafts, IT skills, music and drama groups. 
 

Museums and Galleries 
Battle of Britain Memorial Flight Visitor Centre – 
Provides public access to the Memorial Flight at 
RAF Coningsby. 
 
We’ll Meet Again WW2 Homefront Museum – 
award winning museum based at Freiston Shore, 
with a collection of WW1 and WW 2 artefacts. 
 
The Bubblecar Museum – with 50 microcars 
including Bond, Isetta, reliant and Bamby. 
 
 
 

Heritage 
St Botolph’s Church – known as the Boston Stump and for being the 
largest Parish Church in the UK, its size reflecting the importance of 
the town. As well as being used worship it hosts a range of arts 
activities. 
 
Hussey Tower – A Scheduled Ancient Monument built in the 15th 
century and once part of a large manor house. 
 
Boston Guildhall – Built in the 1390s, a symbol of Boston’s power at 
the time, now housing a museum and used for weddings. 
 
The Old Kings Head – in Kirton, a rare 16th Century example of the 
Fenland Artisan Mannerist style 
 

Natural Environment 
Boston Central Park - Formerly a private deer park and now a focal 
point for the town it houses a bird aviary, café and skate park. 
 
Freiston Shore – a naturally regenerated salt marsh, that benefits 
wintering, passage and nesting birds. 
 
Frampton Marsh – An RSPB reserve and one of Europe’s most 
important locations for freshwater wildlife. 
 

Notable projects 
Boston Buoys Art trail a series of artworks created on former 
working buoys, Boston Book Festival championing diverse authors, 
Illuminate Boston, 1620 lanterns to celebrate the 400th anniversary of 
the Pilgrims, Emerge Festival a free family event with games, 
performance and music, Aerial Dance Classes for the adventurous. 
 

Arts and Cultural Organisations 
Transported – A strategic, community 
focused programme part of the Arts 
Council’s network of Creative People and 
Places programme since 2012 and now a 
National Portfolio Organisation, driving 
cultural development across Boston and 
beyond. 
 
Boston Sinfonia – Founded in 1996 to 
give a platform to local professional 
standard musicians and orchestra in 
residence at the Stump. 
 
Boston Hanse Group – The New Hanse 
brings together 197 towns and cities from 
across Europe in the spirit of the original 
Hanseatic League 
 
Bos Musical Theatre Group – an award-
winning performing society based in 
Boston. 

Museums and Galleries 
Blackfriars Arts Centre – home to two local 
amateur groups and host to a varied programme of 
professional productions. 
 
Savoy Cinema – Modern facility screening films 
and live theatre with a café-bar. 
 
Shodfriars Hall – Adjacent to Blackfriars, will be 
brought back into use as a cultural centre through 
the Towns Fund. 
 
 

P
age 27



13 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 

East Lindsey – Sample of cultural   
Highlights                            

 
 

   

Natural Environment 
Highlights include the North Sea Observatory, 
Skegness, Mablethorpe, Sandilands and Chapel 
Point and beaches, Saltfleeby-Theddlethorpe 
Dunes, Chapel Marsh pit and Hufton Bank for 
wildlife, Woodhall Spa Woods, Snipe Dales 
Country Park. 

Libraries 
There are five libraries in Skegness, Mablethorpe, Louth 
and Woodhall Spa. All offer activities and events 
alongside lending. Village halls and community hubs are 
also vital parts of the community cultural infrastructure.  

Museums and Galleries 
Alford Manor House – the largest thatched manor house in the 
country, build in the 17th Century, adjacent to the museum of Rural 
Life. 
 
Woodhall Spa Cottage Museum - housed in a rare 19th Century 
corrugated iron bungalow, it tells the unique history of the village. 
 
Louth Museum – award-winning museum with 4 galleries and a 
library. 
 
Other museums include Lincolnshire Aviation Heritage Centre, 
Magdalen College Museum, Sir Joseph Banks Centre Museum and 
The Village Church Farm. 
 

Heritage 
Alford Windmill - A five-sailed Windmill, restored to working order 
that will soon again grind grain for sale. 
 
Gunby Estate – An 18th Century country house set in a landscaped 
100-acre park. 
 
Tatershall Cottage – The ruin of a grammar school, then later a 
brewery, saved for the nation in 1974. 
 
Other highlights include Claythorpe Watermill, St Wilfred’s Church, 
Bolingbroke Castle, St James’ Church and a range of natural 
landscapes. 

Networks 
Networks include the SOcial, SO Festival’s creative 
network, attracting over 60 members. Alford Hub with 90 
active volunteers, Louth Art Trail and Horncastle 
Together. 
 

Arts and Cultural Organisations 
SO Festival – a major international street art 
festival offering a variety of outdoor 
entertainment in Skegness and Mablethorpe. 
Other festivals include Zero degrees in Louth 
and Beyond the Woods. 
 
Magna Vitae – a charitable trust running cultural, 
leisure and health facilities across Lincolnshire 
(including the SO Festival). 
 
Live and Local – Facilitates high-quality 
professional performance in small venues across 
the district (as well as nationally). 
 
Choral Societies – there are numerous local 
groups including in Louth, Horncastle, Alford. 
 
Louth 13+ Youth and Community Centre – a 
hive of activity for young and old since 1992. 
 
Zero Degrees Festival, Louth – an exemplar 
community-led festival working across the arts.  
 

Arts Venues 
Skegness Embassy Theatre – Managed by Magna 
Vitae, with multiple adaptable auditoriums, it is central to 
the Skegness Town Deal plans to create a cultural hub 
 
Riverhead Theatre – Run by the Louth Playgoers, puts 
on frequent amateur productions and runs workshops for 
all ages. 
 
Spilsby Sessions House – Currently undergoing 
restoration once funds are secured it will be a 
community venue and heritage asset. 
 
Other notable assets include Neverland Theatre and 
Arts Centre, Grubby Knees Theatre Company, 
Horncastle Theatre Company and Kinema in the Woods. 

Bigger than many counties and geographically the fifth largest district in England, East Lindsey’s 137,000 residents 
are spread between a mix of market towns, coastal towns, villages and rural locations including Manby, Alford, 
Wragby, Spilsby, Woodall Spa, Mablethorpe, Skegness, Horncastle, Chapel St Leonards and Louth. Its coast is 
renowned for its natural environment as well as home to the 4th largest holiday resort in the country. The Lincolnshire 
Wolds is an area of outstanding Natural Beauty. The economy is dominated by tourism on the coast and agriculture 
inland. Magna Vitae play a vital role in supporting culture and leisure activities across East Lindsey, with plans to 
extend their role in rural areas. Skegness and Mablethorpe have secured £48.4 million Town Deal so they can: “make 
their distinctive contributions to a Connected Coast, renewed and refreshed as settlements through a programme 
which diversifies their economies, builds their skills base and establishes them as national test beds for future living 
and natural resource management.” 

Select notable projects 
The SOvember Weekender in Skegness for digital arts encounters, Skegness Beach race attracting crowds of 30,000, Halloween at 
Hildreds shopping centre, Festive Fabulosa which toured 5 towns in winter 2021with a repurposed organ and light show. 
 

P
age 28



14 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Four Strategic Themes for Cultural Renewal 
Consultation for this Cultural Framework has brought into 
sharp relief both the opportunities for cultural renewal in 
Boston and East Lindsey and the challenges. As recognised 
by Arts Council England in the allocation of Boston and East 
Lindsey as priority places, the area is one of significant 
potential but also one where multiple barriers have historically 
stood in the way of system-wide cultural renewal. The area’s 
ageing population and sustained loss of younger talent, 
limited transport links, health and wellbeing indicators, 
fragmented communities, and lack of critical mass in a range 
of industries, are commonly identified as challenging features 
or as barriers to cultural development. 
 
But the area can also be understood from an ‘asset-based 
perspective’, where its heritage, natural and built environment, 
existing cultural offer, and the ambition and aspirations of its 
people, provide a set of cultural resources which can be 
nurtured as part of a holistic process of cultural renewal.  
 
In exploring what is possible, what is needed, and also what is 
most challenging, this consultation for this Cultural Framework 
has identified 4 interconnected strategic themes. These 
provide the thematic architecture for culture-led partnership 
and investment: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cultural 
Renewal 

Cultural 
Places 

Cultural 
Infrastructure 

Culture for 
All 

Health & 
Wellbeing 

P
age 29



15 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

 
Culture makes a strong 
contribution to improved 
health and wellbeing for 
the whole population. 
As well as boosting 
individual mental and 
physical health 
outcomes, culture helps 
to build resilient and 
cohesive communities. 
Culture plays a vital role 
in post-Covid recovery, 
supporting a process of 
healing, of re-
emergence, and of new-
found confidence. 
Culture helps to build 
positive relationships 
between people and 
place, reducing 
depression, anxiety and 
loneliness.  

Culture for all 
 

Boston and East 
Lindsey prioritise culture 
for everyone, residents 
and visitors alike. For 
children and young 
people, culture is part of 
everyday life, with 
opportunities to 
participate inside and 
outside school, with the 
chance to grow and 
develop skills and with 
progression routes to 
employment and 
education. For families, 
culture provides for 
more attractive, healthy 
places to live and 
activities for all ages. 
For communities, this 
helps build cohesion, 
animate places and 
build pride. 

Cultural 
Infrastructure 

 Boston and East 
Lindsey are a model for 
innovative, inclusive 
cultural infrastructure of 
all kinds – including 
venues, outdoor 
spaces, festivals and 
networks to support a 
vibrant, high-quality, 
community-centred 
cultural ecosystem. 
Heritage and natural 
assets are re-imagined 
and re-modelled as 
spaces for cultural 
production and 
expression. The area 
becomes a hub for 
innovative cultural 
practice – including in 
outdoor arts, rural 
touring and community 
engagement. 

 

Cultural Places 
 

The area’s unique mix 
of towns, coastal 
resorts, villages and 
rural hamlets are 
connected through 
shared cultural activity 
that animates high 
streets, attracts visitors 
on- and off-season, and 
connects people to 
heritage and the natural 
environment. Culture 
plays a leading role in 
regenerating and 
revitalising town centres 
and supporting the 
recovery of tourism; 
culture connects 
communities through 
new touring models; 
and culture links with 
leisure and sport to 
support active 
participation in civic life.  

P
age 30



16 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

100 Voices from Boston 
and East Lindsey 
 

In addition to a programme of workshops and interviews, 
consultation for this Framework involved a survey to improve 
understanding of the needs and aspirations of local people. 
We distributed a online survey across East Lindsey and 
Boston to gather a wider range of opinions. Close to 100 local 
people responded, split into thirds between creative 
practitioners, employees and volunteers at cultural 
organisations, and community members interested in the arts.  

In terms of their views on the area as a place to be based as a 
creative practitioner, respondents were generally positive. On 
average they felt there were creative opportunities in the area, 
that they can network with others, that their work was valued 
by communities and cultural organisations. However nearly 
50% felt there weren’t sufficient or appropriate venues to 
accommodate their work in the area, with cost or 
administrative barriers cited alongside the lack of purpose-
built cultural infrastructure for some types of cultural activity. 

The importance of collaboration and creative organisations to 
freelancers was clearly seen with 82% having worked with a 
cultural organisation in the area, 68% outside the area, 16% 
internationally and 63% with an organisation in another sector 
(e.g. technology, health, wellbeing and tourism).  

People working for organisations were particularly keen to 
develop new audiences (86% strongly agreeing), were happy 
with their venues (57% tending to or strongly agreeing) and 
increase volunteering activities (48% strongly agreeing).  

In terms of audiences, survey respondents were 
unsurprisingly heavy attenders - 60% had attended 6 or more 
cultural activities in last year and 30% 2-5 cultural activities. 
60% knew where to find information on events but 67% felt 
there weren’t enough live events indicating an appetite for 
more. They felt cultural activity was affordable (53%), open 
and inclusive (54%) which reflects the community nature of 
much activity. However, work is not as local as it could be with 
60% of respondents saying they had to travel more 20 
minutes to attend an event.  

In terms of what they thought of East Lindsey and Boston as 
places of cultural activity there were a real mix of responses. 
On the negative side, people reported a lack of activity or 
variation: 

“Not enough going on.  Could be much more going on.” 
 

“There is a lot of opportunity to create cultural activities with these 
areas - I just rarely see such events in the area.” 

 
“East Lindsey tends to be quite samey with the same events, same 
people etc. A bit of variation would be nice.” 
 
Transport, size and the rural nature of the area were 
frequently cited as barriers: 
 

P
age 31



17 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

“It is difficult to secure higher quality performers due to the excess 
costs and lower audience numbers. In the past there have been 
higher levels of subsidy available.”  
 
 

“The long distances people have to travel limits participation in 
cultural events and activities, and particularly the very limited public 
transport.  In Louth we now have no long-distance coach service (to 

London etc), no railway, no local buses in the evenings, and no 
Sunday buses.” 

 
There were several more positive comments, though they 
mention a lack of overarching cultural partnership, limited 
venues, and challenges with engaging people from different 
parts of the community: 
 
“Transported is exceptional, what a difference they have made.” 
 

“What goes on in Boston already is great, but there is massive 
potential to invest in people and their talents and especially our 

beautiful heritage buildings, so everything comes alive for the 
benefit of all.” 

 
“Obviously as rural places they will always have limitations in terms 
of availability and accessibility for cultural events. As a creative I 
don't have a problem with that, it is just a challenge that I am happy 
to have for the privilege of living in this area. There is lots going on:  
e.g., theatre, arts cinema, music. Visual arts less so as no 
dedicated venues.” 
 
Finally, a quote which really sums up the challenge and 
opportunity for this Cultural Development Framework: 
 

“The area is so huge and so spread out with such a 
range of small centres of population that it is 

sometimes hard to get a handle on what is going on. 
There are some real pockets of cultural excellence 

for sure, but an arguable lack of coordination 
sometimes makes it hard to understand the overall 

direction of travel.  
 

The Cultural Framework is perhaps an opportunity 
not only to raise the profile of arts & cultural activities 
across the area, but also develop the understanding 

of its significance amongst potential partners (such 
as businesses, local councillors etc.” 

Boston Gliderdrome 

P
age 32



18 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Theme 1. Culture, Health 
and Wellbeing 
The Vision 
 
Culture makes a strong contribution to improved health and 
wellbeing for the whole population. As well as boosting 
individual mental and physical health outcomes, culture helps 
to build resilient and cohesive communities. Culture plays a 
vital role in post-Covid recovery, supporting a process of 
healing, of re-emergence, and of new-found confidence. 
Culture helps to build positive relationships between people 
and place, reducing depression, anxiety and loneliness.  
 
 
The Challenges and Opportunities 
In common with Lincolnshire as a whole, improving health and 
wellbeing in East Lindsey and Boston is a priority. Due to a 
range of factors, including pockets of multiple deprivation, low 
income and skills levels, demographic profile (with an ageing 
population), parts of the area suffer from poor health 
outcomes with people suffering more years of physical and 
mental ill health, lifestyle-related illnesses and chronic 
conditions and shortened lifespans. Issues to do with rural 
isolation, transport and poor housing, particularly for some 
coastal communities, makes the problem more acute. Added 
to this has been the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic, which has disproportionately affected poorer and 
vulnerable communities here as it has nationally and 
internationally. 

 
Culture is already playing an important part in helping people 
to live happier, healthier and more fulfilled lives. Whether it is 
providing people with the transferable skills and confidence 
that can help them gain employment or stay in employment (a 
vital driver of better health), helping tackle the problems 
caused by loneliness or isolation through active participation 
and volunteering or bringing communities together through 
major events that encourage a sense of cohesion and civic 
pride. 
 
Priority Areas for Action 
— Build on the current work being done at a County level through the 

One You Lincolnshire programme which supports healthy living. 
This presents opportunities to work with commissioning services 
do culture can deliver positive health and wellbeing outcomes in 
deprived wards. Support Lincolnshire, the online directory of 
available support and services, can feature cultural provision as a 
vital part of the portfolio of resources available to deliver a 
healthier Lincolnshire. 

— Connect the proposed Wellbeing Hub in Skegness and Campus 
for Future Living in Mablethorpe (both featured in successful 
Towns Fund bids) to a culture and wellbeing programme. This can 
be part of an ambitious R&D project on culture and wellbeing – 
partnering local cultural organisations and local health and 
wellbeing infrastructure to national and international best practice.  

— Expand and scale up the work of groups including Transported, 
which have used the arts to help tackle physical and mental health 
issues. 

— Increase the connections between culture and heritage, using 
culture as a means to encourage new visitors to the area’s 
physical and cultural heritage, building pride and confidence for all 
communities. 

P
age 33



19 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Theme 2. Culture For All 
The Vision 
Boston and East Lindsey prioritise culture for everyone, 
residents and visitors alike. For children and young people, 
culture is part of everyday life, with opportunities to participate 
inside and outside school, with the chance to grow and 
develop skills and with progression routes to employment and 
education. For families, culture provides for more attractive, 
healthy places to live and activities for all ages. For 
communities, this helps build cohesion, animate places and 
build pride. 
 

The Challenges and Opportunities 
Boston and East Lindsey cover a large geographic area, with 
an extraordinarily rich natural and heritage landscape. 
However, with this comes the challenge of connectivity: 
communities can feel isolated and presents the logistic 
difficulty of delivering high-quality arts across a dispersed 
community of villages, market towns and rural areas. Across 
the area, rural touring, festivals and shows, amateur groups, 
village halls, small venues and galleries abound. The SO 
Festival, now seen as a model of good practice in Outdoor 
Arts with an international focus, is one of the few 
organisations with the capacity to produce work of scale, but 
funding restrictions have limited its reach into rural 
communities.  

Across the area, in spite of the great work done by 
organisations and individuals, there are still areas of low 

engagement (particularly in coastal areas). The pandemic has 
revealed how many have missed the life-affirming benefits 
that culture brings, as well as shining a light on the impacts of 
inequality and the vulnerability of sections of society. 

Due to the strength of volunteering, amateur groups and 
community infrastructure (from hub libraries to churches and 
village halls) there is a strong grass roots which can be built 
on. The success of Live and Local which has been operating 
in the area for 30 years, enabling venues to stage high-quality 
arts in the smallest of places, shows the benefit of a joined up 
collective approach. Equally the success of shows that tour – 
such as the recent Festive Fabuloso and the increasing range 
of Transported, demonstrate opportunities to connect the 
cultural offer, share efficiencies and establish a whole place 
approach to cultural programming. 

There is high demand for training and skills for people of all 
ages as can be seen with groups including the Lough 
Playgoers providing classes and opportunities for young and 
old alike or Grubby Knees Community Theatre delivers 
workshops for young people interested in performing arts.  

Priority Areas for Action 

- Prioritise projects which can tour across the area – building 
connections between communities, growing capacity and coordinating 
programming through accessible and inspiring itineraries. This 
includes scope for collaboration and coordinated programming across 
the Midlands Coast and inland to hubs of activity across Lincolnshire. 

 
- Build the cultural offer for children and young people, connecting and 

amplifying existing success stories to establish a programme of 

P
age 34



20 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

excellence and innovation in programming and engagement. This 
could be spearheaded by the move of The Mighty Creatives to 
Skegness and the development of the Local Cultural Education 
Partnership, which will help coordinate activity between schools, 
organisations, further and higher education as well as ensuring that 
cultural skills development is prioritised at a LEP level.  

 
- Focus on talent development pathways for young people in culture 

and the creative industries. For example, develop activity spaces for 
culture outside of the school / college, in town centre locations (such 
as old shops) – to build confidence and enhance vitality. Make links 
between the further education sector and the local and regional 
cultural ecosystem – to raise the profile of opportunities for cultural 
and creative work in the area and to build progression pathways for 
young people. 

 
- Prioritise cultural activities which link to areas of existing interest and 

activity. For example, food and drink, walking and cycling, nature and 
heritage, are all areas for which there is significant existing 
participation. Cultural programming which explores these acts of 
everyday participation can bring more people into cultural activities 
and support new areas of work for professional artists and cultural 
producers.  

 
- Diversity advantage: the distinctive nature of cultural diversity in 

Boston and East Lincolnshire is rarely viewed as offering the area an 
advantage, whether in terms of economic development or social 
cohesion. But the talent and aspirations of the area’s diverse 
communities provides a renewable resource which can add to the 
vitality and innovation of the cultural sector. The area, and in 
particular Boston, has thrived through its links to the rest of the world. 
Culture in Boston and East Lindsey will only thrive if the area’s 
diversity is viewed as an opportunity: for a new type of culture built on 
exchange, trust and a shared future.  

  

Time, Tide and Bell, Mablethorpe 

P
age 35



21 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Theme 3. Cultural 
Places 
Vision 

The area’s unique mix of towns, coastal resorts, villages and 
rural hamlets are connected through shared cultural activity 
that animates high streets, attracts visitors on- and off-season, 
and connects people to heritage and the natural environment. 
Culture plays a leading role in regenerating and revitalising 
town centres; culture connects communities through new 
touring models; and culture links with leisure and sport to 
support active participation in civic life. 

Challenges and Opportunities 
The proliferation of small towns and villages and rural nature 
of much of the area has always posed a challenge in ensuring 
that everyone can easily access culture. Tightening resources 
has historically necessitated the concentration of investment 
in key organisations and larger towns, meaning that some 
places feel they have not had access to the resources they 
need. 
 
The cultural ecosystem of Boston is made up of a mix of 
relatively established organisations usually based in bigger 
settlements with a larger number of smaller, grassroots 
groups, venues and spaces geographically dispersed. These 
include local museums and heritage sites, community groups, 
village halls, churches and libraries, which are often reliant on 

volunteers. While some receive funding, they are often heavily 
reliant on small grants and the local community for resources. 
Established larger organisations such as Transported and the 
SO Festival successfully work with local groups and venues to 
bring work to new areas, while Live and Local has a long 
history of enabling even the smallest of venues to put on high 
quality and innovative work.  

Incoming investment through the Towns Fund provides a 
major opportunity to align cultural development to social and 
economic transformation. Imaginative enhancements to the 
public realm, new routes for leisure and culture, and new or 
revitalised cultural infrastructure will lead a period of sustained 
regeneration in Skegness and Mablethorpe – as a Connected 
Coast; and in Boston – as a town which wants to become a 
city.  

To achieve sustained cultural renewal in these towns, it will 
also be important to build connections across the wider area, 
with local hubs in smaller places feeding into a network of 
cultural development, benefitting from the scaling up of 
capacity in the larger towns and contributing themselves to 
the area’s overall vitality.  

Priority Areas for Action 
To ensure that culture can playing a leading role in making the whole area 
and all its places more attractive, more prosperous and more liveable, will 
mean helping all parts of the ecosystem to flourish. There are three main 
ways this can be achieved: 
 
— Firstly, by enabling larger, established organisations to use their 

scale and capacity to work even more effectively with local groups, 
producers and artists. This includes developing rural touring, 

P
age 36



22 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

cultural programming based on connected itineraries, and 
partnership with even larger cultural organisations in the wider 
region, encouraging them to come to Boston and East Lindsey to 
develop and test new work, innovate and grow.  

— Secondly, by providing more support for smaller groups and 
grassroots organisations, through networking, mentoring and 
skills, support with applications and helping them connect to key 
local services.  

— Thirdly, by supporting and promoting local events in a coordinated 
way so that residents and visitors alike can easily find out about 
events, exhibitions and performances and view this as part of an 
area-wide cultural programme. This will put culture to the centre of 
Visitor Economy Resilience Plans and provide a focal point for the 
work of Destination Lincolnshire. 

Other key priority areas for place-based cultural renewal include: 
 
 
- Heritage renewal and activation: Boston and East Lindsey have a 

portfolio of heritage assets which are under-utilised as contemporary 
resources for culture. Boston’s Townscape Heritage project has 
illuminated the town’s considerable heritage assets and also 
highlighted the need to actively pursue new uses for heritage 
buildings. Plus, the intangible heritage assets of the area provide a 
rich seam of inspiration for new cultural programming – from the 
Hanseatic League to the agricultural history, cultural renewal can 
draw on the resources of the past.  
 

- Environmental responsibility: There is an opportunity, indeed 
necessity, to position culture as an enabler for community responses 
to climate change – e.g. building environmental literacy and 
responsibility; delivering carbon neutral solutions; seeding national 
and international collaborations which pioneer ‘slow’ and sustainable 
cultural exchange and agile cultural production. Boston and East 
Lindsey can build partnerships into North East Lincolnshire, where 
there is considerable investment in off-shore energy, to develop a 

Midlands Coast cultural offer which champions environmental 
sustainability and works with nature as a cultural resource. 

 

 

 

Boston Heritage Trump Cards 

P
age 37



23 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Theme 4. Cultural 
Infrastructure 
The Vision 

Boston and East Lindsey are a model for innovative, inclusive 
cultural infrastructure of all kinds – including venues, outdoor 
spaces, festivals and networks to support a vibrant, high-
quality, community-centred cultural ecosystem. Heritage and 
natural assets are re-imagined and re-modelled as spaces for 
cultural production and expression. The area becomes a hub 
for innovative cultural practice – including in outdoor arts, rural 
touring and community engagement. 

 

The challenges and opportunities 
While home to some excellent individual infrastructure ranging 
from larger festivals like SO Festival, catalysts of community 
engagement Transported, much loved theatres such as the 
Embassy or Riverhead, or distinctive venues such as the 
recently listed Gliderdrome and the contemporary architecture 
of the North Sea Observatory; overall the cultural 
infrastructure landscape of Boston and East Lindsey needs a 
re-boot. The many smaller venues and spaces are heavily 
reliant on volunteers, often lacking in resources and capacity. 
Larger venues will benefit from modernisation and a process 
of re-imagination to explore a range of uses. And, as 
previously mentioned, heritage assets are under-utilised as 
spaces for contemporary cultural activity.  

Boston and East Lindsey have also begun to explore other 
types of cultural infrastructure, recognising that it is not just 
venues or festivals which deliver cultural renewal. For 
example, explorations in public art such as Time and Tide Bell 
in Mablethorpe or Transmission’s Boston Buoys Trail or their 
Art on Lorries project, demonstrate the possibility of inspiring 
audiences through the connection of heritage, landscape, and 
art. These interventions play an important social role, building 
identity and pride, as well as catalysing cultural tourism. 
Opportunities to re-imagine identity and place through public 
art and public realm interventions will play a role in the area’s 
long-term cultural renewal.  
 
 
Priority Areas for Action 
 
— New investment will lead to significant improvements in the area’s 

cultural infrastructure. The Town Deals in Boston, Mablethorpe 
and Skegness will provide much needed investment into facilities 
– providing new and updated cultural facilities as part of wider 
plans which will boost the local economy, improve skills and place 
attractiveness.  Sutton-on-Sea Colonnade will see the construction 
of landmark building that will introduce new café, restaurant, 
gallery and exhibition spaces, with viewing decks overlooking the 
beach. This has the potential to be a new type of culture house for 
the area – a base for international exchange and dynamic cross-
art-form development. The Embassy Theatre will be a central part 
of plans to regenerate Skegness Foreshore as it becomes a true 
‘hub’ providing homes to artists and producers (including The 
Mighty Creatives). Alongside townscape and heritage 
improvement projects, Boston will bring back Shodfriars Hall as a 
cultural centre next to Blackfriars Art Centre and there will be a 
dynamic re-birth of heritage assets in the town centre – to promote 

P
age 38



24 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

and present the area’s creative talent base (e.g. in partnership 
with the College) 

 
— An uplift for performing arts infrastructure. The area’s 

strengths in theatre and performance, which will be boosted by 
these investments, could be developed by further support for local 
creative producers, training and mentoring for young producers 
and performers, building stronger connections outside the region 
(but in the Midlands and East of England but also internationally 
through established connections such as the Hanseatic League 
(Boston), Helsingør (East Lyndsey) and Eastern Europe (area-
wide). With a focus on specialisation in theatre and performance, 
and in particular outdoor arts, an opportunity exists to test the 
feasibility of establishing a creation centre in East Lindsey – to 
establish the area as a hub for innovation, production and 
exchange, housing a cluster of companies and building 
international residency opportunities.  
 

— The Midlands Coast. By working together in new ways, East 
Lindsey and Boston can scale-up and connect their cultural offer. 
This also presents the opportunity for stronger and more 
structured partnership with the rest of the County and beyond. The 
stretch of coast from the Humber to the Wash is, in effect, the 
Midlands Coast. It has been a place of escape from the cities in 
the East Midlands and Yorkshire, a place of discovery for nature-
lovers, and a place of arrival and departure. Yet the coast lacks a 
unified cultural offer, which in turn diminishes its identity at a 
regional and national level. This Cultural Framework prioritises 
stronger partnership along the coast and inland to kickstart a 
cultural renewal of scale and reputation. It also prioritises 
positioning the Midlands Coast as an area for testing new types of 
cultural programming – inviting NPOs from across the region to 
develop new work, build innovative cultural practice, and in turn 
help nurture a local cultural workforce toward a sustainable 
cultural ecosystem. 

 
— Reinvigorating cultural tourism. While already of vital 

importance to the region, cultural tourism can be boosted. Unique 
and popular assets, as diverse as The Battle of Britain Memorial 
Flight Visitor Centre or the hidden gems of Woodhall Spa including 
`Jubilee Park and the Kinema in the Woods, need to be placed 
within narratives that better capture the extraordinary richness and 
diversity of the area in ways that capture wider attention. There is 
also an opportunity to interweave leisure and wellbeing assets 
such as cycle routes with cultural programming and infrastructure, 
including public art. This – aligned with a Midlands Coast narrative 
– can establish accessible and compelling itineraries for culture 
which attract locals and visitors to enjoy the area in new and 
enriching ways.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Zero Degrees Festival, Louth 

P
age 39



25 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Cultural Partnership 
As a cultural sector, partners in Boston and East Lindsey will  
flourish through ever stronger collaboration. To achieve the 
vision set out in this Cultural Framework, it is recommended 
Boston and East Lindsey set up a Cultural Reference Group 
or Board to offer dynamic leadership and a collective voice for 
culture. This can involve representation from both Councils 
and the County, leading cultural organisations, education 
providers and representation from freelancers and micro 
creative enterprises. It will work to identify opportunities for a 
more coordinated cultural offer and it will work to advise on 
the delivery of this Framework – such as with regard to priority 
actions supported by Towns Funds and forthcoming Levelling 
Up and Priority Place investment.  

The Culture Board will work to champion, connect and 
challenge the cultural sector of Boston and East Lindsey. It 
will: 

- Play a strategic leadership role to position culture to the 
area’s renewal. 
 

- Connect the distinctive cultural strengths and assets of 
the area to ensure stronger partnership, imaginative 
collaboration and effective skills and knowledge 
exchange. 
 

- Be an advocate for cultural investment and provide a 
shared front door for new types of cross-sector 
partnership. 

 
- Connect with and broker relations across the region’s 

networks and hubs of cultural practice, which includes 
multiple place-based partnerships, sector groups, and 
a diverse cultural workforce of freelancers and micro-
enterprises across the Midlands Coast an inland. 
 

Special Projects 
The Boston and East Lindsey Culture Board will prioritise 
objectives set out in this Framework for Cultural Renewal. It 
will also lead on three special projects: 

A. Annual Culture Workshop: the AGM for the area’s 
cultural sector. This event will review impact over the 
year and reflect on new opportunities for cultural 
renewal. It will bring local councillors to the table to 
describe how culture is supporting renewal and it will 
provide a platform to showcase good practice in the 
area. This workshop would work well as part of a 
festival programme – to coincide with a calendar 
cultural highlight for the area, perhaps involving 
national and international cultural experts to help 
position Boston and East Lindsey as open to innovation 
and learning. 
 

B. Evaluation: The Board will work with an evaluation 
partner to establish a measurement framework to track 
progress and impact – based on the priorities of this 
Framework. This will be informed by the Theory of 
Change set out below. 

 

P
age 40



26 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

A CULTURAL FRAMEWORK AND ACTION PLAN 
 

VISION 
Boston and East Lindsey will be known for their cultural dynamism, as places where 
every community takes part to create a distinctive cultural ecosystem which connects 
heritage to a shared future, drives inclusive economic development and contributes to 
health and wellbeing.  
  

 
FOUR THEMES FOR CULTURAL RENEWAL 

Culture Health 
and Wellbeing 

Culture for All Cultural Places Cultural 
Infrastructure 

MAIN OUTCOMES 
Enhanced health and wellbeing through 
culture. 
 
Improved confidence and reduced 
loneliness and isolation. 
 
Improved perceptions on quality of life. 

Increase in audiences for culture and 
active participation in a range of 
cultural activities. 
 
Improved community cohesion. 
 
Uplift in coordinated cultural provision 
across the area. 
 
Increase in opportunities to work in 
culture and the creative industries. 
 
More opportunities for diverse 
communities to participate and drive 
cultural renewal. 

Growth in the local cultural economy – 
enhancing vitality and increasing 
cultural tourism volume and spend. 
 
Enhanced public spaces and 
integrated cultural, leisure and 
heritage itineraries. 
 
Heritage assets revitalised for cultural 
use. 
 
Increase in environmental 
responsibility and sustainable practice 
in culture. 
 
Increase in partnership for 
programming and cultural 
development. 

Re-vitalised cultural infrastructure to the heart 
of transformed towns. 
 
New innovative cultural infrastructure – 
feasibility and development. 
 
Growth of festivals (number and scale) as 
catalysts for cultural renewal. 
 
Increase in high quality public art which 
enhances the heritage and natural 
landscape. 
 
Established collaboration and exchange 
programmes across the Midlands Coast – 
establishing the area as a hub for regional 
cultural development. 

P
age 41



27 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

EAST LINDSEY PRIORITY ACTIONS 
  

“A place where everybody has a chance to thrive” (East Lindsey Strategic Plan 2020-2030). 
Culture Health 
and Wellbeing 

Culture for All Cultural Places Cultural 
Infrastructure 

1. Develop a cultural prescribing 
and commissioning model to 
align with the two proposed 
infrastructure developments 
featured in the Towns Fund: 
Wellbeing Hub in Skegness 
and Campus for Future Living 
in Mablethorpe. This is to be 
pitched as a culture, health and 
wellbeing R&D project. 
 

2. Introduce cultural itineraries / 
wayfinding as part of a wider 
boost in wellbeing and healthy 
living activities – e.g. public art 
commissions integrated into 
walking and cycle routes; and 
culture / heritage and natural 
environment routes 
established. 
 

3. Boost the capacity of cultural 
organisations and artists to 
work with partners in social 
care to develop cultural 
experiences for harder to reach 
communities – e.g. elderly 
people and / or people with 

1. Introduce shared cultural 
programming, touring and 
visitor itineraries which 
connect the coast to inland 
East Lindsey. This is to 
enhance the reach of activity 
into all communities, scale-up 
cultural programming, and 
build a stronger overall 
cultural tourism package. A 
priority action here is to boost 
digital capacity across the 
arts and cultural sector, 
attending to digital 
connectivity issues, 
supporting digital literacy and 
growing the digital capacity of 
artists and organisations. 

 
2. Work with education 

providers to co-design a 
‘work in culture and the 
creative industries’ campaign 
– to raise the profile of 
creative work, build 
connections with employers, 
and provide targeted support 
to promote enterprise and 

1. Position culture to the heart 
of town centre renewal – 
prioritising the development 
of festivals and events and 
utilising old retail and 
heritage assets as spaces for 
culture – e.g. for events, pop-
up creative markets, and for 
community dialogue. The 
‘urban rooms’ model can be 
adapted to East Lindsey – 
with spaces set up for 
community engagement, 
cultural commissioning and 
showcasing local talent. This 
can tour across the District, 
connecting different urban 
centres through coordinated 
programming and 
engagement. 

 
2. Public realm revitalisation: 

ambitious and radical public 
art commissions, the 
development of amenities for 
outdoor arts (e.g. future-
proofing public spaces for 
events and festivals), and 

1. Prioritise the core cultural 
infrastructure interventions set out in 
the Connected Coast Towns Fund 
Bids: 

- Establish the Colonnade as a hub 
for contemporary culture – linking 
learning, enterprise and experience. 
Develop a vision and strategy for 
this intervention. 

- The flagship foreshore development 
in Skegness, including a 
rejuvenated Embassy Theatre as a 
hub for cultural learning, enterprise 
and innovation; and re-inventing 
Skegness Illuminations to become a 
platform for innovation in light art 
and digital projection. Develop a 
vision and strategy for this 
intervention. 

 
2. Boost sector networking, knowledge 

exchange and data insight 
gathering. This includes working 
with National Portfolio Organisations 
and international organisations to 
work more in the area and develop 
and grow existing organisations to 

P
age 42



28 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 

 

 

 

 

 

long-term health issues. This is 
to reduce isolation and 
enhance mental health. This 
can commence with targeted 
capacity-building and training 
activities to support cultural 
practitioners to work in such 
settings. 

showcase local talent. This 
includes connecting the  
flagship Skegness Learning 
Campus and Skegness 
Grammar to support arts and 
cultural education; creative 
enterprise and events.  
 

3. Intercultural exchange and 
capacity-building. Work to 
establish East Lindsey as an 
open, tolerant, and trust-
based cultural ecosystem. 
This means brokering 
connections between 
different communities 
through arts and culture; 
commissioning new work 
which breaks down barriers; 
giving different cultures a 
platform for cultural 
expression; and supporting 
new cultural activities based 
on a combination of cultural 
influences which reflect the 
distinctive cultural mix of the 
locality.  

‘smart’ infrastructure such as 
innovative lighting, interactive 
bus shelters, and an overall 
re-think where design and 
creativity are central to the 
provision of new public realm 
and transport infrastructure. 
 

3. Heritage renewal: activating 
heritage sites as spaces for 
cultural production and 
consumption – on both a 
meanwhile basis and as part 
of regular cultural 
programming. Develop a list 
of priority heritage assets 
which can be used for 
cultural activities and 
promote them to the cultural 
sector as resources to be 
activated.  
 
 

build capacity and expertise and in 
turn support local people to 
participate in culture. 
 

3. Prioritise capacity-building and 
growth in the festival sector, 
establishing the District as a centre 
for production with key specialisms 
(e.g. outdoor arts and young 
people). Position this growing hub 
as an internationally-facing 
opportunity, connecting East 
Lindsey to Europe and beyond. To 
activate this, set up a festival and 
events working group (with Boston) 
to explore growth and innovation 
opportunities. 

P
age 43



29 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

BOSTON PRIORITY ACTIONS 
  

“…Launch Boston into the future, build on its unique heritage and 
make our town an exciting place to live, work, invest 
and visit for generations to come.” (Boston Town Investment Plan). 

Culture Health 
and Wellbeing 

Culture for All Cultural Places Cultural 
Infrastructure 

1. Introduce cultural itineraries / 
wayfinding as part of a wider 
boost in wellbeing and healthy 
living activities – e.g. public art 
commissions integrated into 
walking and cycle routes; and 
culture / heritage and natural 
environment routes 
established. Transported is 
already leading activities in this 
area, connecting the town to 
outlying communities.  
 

2. Boost the capacity of cultural 
organisations and artists to 
work with partners in social 
care to develop cultural 
experiences for harder to reach 
communities – e.g. elderly 
people and / or people with 
long-term health issues. This is 

1. Work with education 
providers (in particular 
Boston College and via the 
Youth Ambassadors 
Programme and the Holy 
Trinity Initiative) to co-design 
a ‘work in culture and the 
creative industries’ campaign 
– to raise the profile of 
creative work, build 
connections with employers, 
and provide targeted support 
to promote enterprise and 
showcase local talent. This 
can include options appraisal 
for a town centre hub / venue 
(see cultural infrastructure 
theme) which can showcase 
creative talent and develop 
Boston town centre as a hub 
for culture and the creative 

1. Enhance pride of place and 
drive economic activity by 
positioning culture to the 
heart of town centre renewal 
– utilising old retail and 
heritage assets as spaces for 
culture – e.g. for events, pop-
up creative markets, and for 
community dialogue. The 
‘urban rooms’ model can be 
adapted to Boston – with 
spaces set up for community 
engagement, cultural 
commissioning and 
showcasing local talent. This 
aligns with the Town 
Investment Plan priories for 
Holy Trinity, Townscape 
Heritage Project, and Wide 
Bar Gate Shop Front 
Scheme 

1. Prioritise the core cultural 
infrastructure interventions set out in 
the Towns Fund Bid: 

- St Botolph’s - Medieval Library, 
Lighting and Blenkin Memorial Hall 
Shodfriar’s Hall: creation of a new 
internationally significant heritage 
attraction which utilises innovative 
lighting to operate as a visual 
attraction after dark and an 
interactive heritage centre (and 
enterprise centre) by day. 
Shodfriar’s Hall in particular offers 
opportunities for cultural use – with 
scope to operate as an arts centre, 
studio and rehearsal hub and 
community space. A preliminary 
action is to develop the vision and 
feasibility / business model for this 
to include contemporary cultural 
activity.  

P
age 44



30 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

to reduce isolation and 
enhance mental health. This 
can commence with targeted 
capacity-building and training 
activities to support cultural 
practitioners to work in such 
settings. 
 

3. Build connections between 
healthy living, food and culture, 
linking the Borough and 
environs’ agricultural and 
trading history to explore the 
culture of food. This also 
opens-up opportunities to 
engage with and connect the 
Borough’s diverse communities 
to explore the culture, social 
history and future of food.  

industries. This links to the 
Boston Mayflower concept. – 
to upskill and nurture future 
leaders, prepare young 
people for the job market and 
enable a strong local culture 
and shared community 
activities. One additional 
action is to leverage the 
proposed Mayflower facility 
as a centre for STEAM 
learning and creative 
entrepreneurship (see 
Cultural Infrastructure 
theme). 
 

2. Intercultural exchange and 
capacity-building. Work to 
establish Boston as an open, 
tolerant, and trust-based 
cultural ecosystem. This 
means brokering connections 
between different 
communities through arts 
and culture; commissioning 
new work which breaks down 
barriers; giving different 
cultures a platform for cultural 
expression; and supporting 
new cultural activities based 
on a combination of cultural 
influences which reflect the 
distinctive cultural mix of the 
locality. This provides an 
opportunity to link Boston’s 
ancient international 
connections (e.g. the 
Hanseatic League and links 
to Boston Massachusetts) 
with more recent cultural 

 
2. Heritage renewal – Boston’s 

heritage cluster: activating 
heritage sites as spaces for 
cultural production and 
consumption – on both a 
meanwhile basis and as part 
of regular cultural 
programming. Develop a list 
of priority heritage assets 
which can be used for 
cultural activities and 
promote them to the cultural 
sector as resources to be 
activated.  

3. Public realm revitalisation: 
ambitious and radical public 
art commissions, the 
development – building on 
the success of Transported’s 
Boston Buoys. This includes 
opportunities to provide 
heritage and cultural 
itineraries for the town – 
connecting key assets such 
as the Guildhall and 
Blackfriars to lesser known 
heritage sites. Utilise digital 
technology to provide 
interactive itineraries which 
connect the heritage and 
contemporary cultural life of 
the Borough. 
 
 
 

- The repair, renovation and 
redevelopment of the Blenkin 
Memorial Hall for multi-purpose 
community use, with a focus on 
culture and entrepreneurship (e.g. 
potential for creative industries). 
This central historic building can be 
a beacon of culture-led renewal. 
This also needs action to develop 
the vision, feasibility and strategy. 
 

2. A re-imagined FE College ‘in the 
spirit of the Mayflower’ – via two 
new buildings for Boston College as: 

“an inspirational space to raise 
aspirations and super-charge community 
and employer engagement with the other 
critical investments that have been made 
at the College – specifically the Institute 
of Technology, the Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Technology Centre 
and the Digital, Transport, Logistics 
Academy” 
 
Culture can be central to the success of 
this new facility: in the vision and 
concept, linking heritage to the town’s 
future; in the potential for new cultural 
programming; and in the potential for a 
dedicated STEAM programme which 
puts the arts to the heart of approaches 
to science, technology, engineering and 
maths. With concept development and a 
strategic plan, Boston can lead the 
‘STEAM revolution’ for towns and cities 
across the country.  

 
3. Undertake feasibility and scoping 

work to establish the Gliderdome as 
a mixed-use centre for cultural 
activity – with a focus on live music, 

P
age 45



31 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 

 

connections to Eastern 
Europe, Portugal and other 
countries. A key action is to 
present Boston’s diversity as 
an asset in its bid for city 
status. 
 

3. Develop cultural 
programming which makes 
more of the Borough’s parks 
and natural assets as spaces 
for inspiration and inclusive 
participation. Sites such as 
Central Park, village greens 
and natural landscapes such 
as Freiston Shore and 
Frampton Marsh provide 
resources to focus on art and 
the environment, boosting 
environmental literacy and 
responsibility and providing 
inspiration to both 
participants and artists. An 
art and environment 
programme could be an initial 
action – positioning culture 
as a catalyst for 
environmental responsibility 
and the enjoyment of nature 
and green spaces. 

entertainment and events. It is a 
distinctive heritage asset which can 
become a dynamic centre for 
medium-scale programming. This 
can help boost the local festivals 
sector and provide opportunities for 
Boston to feature on tours for live 
music, circus, performance, and a 
range of leisure-focused trade and 
cultural events (e.g. antique fairs, 
roller-skating etc.). A preliminary 
action is to scope options and 
undertake feasibility for a preferred 
option(s). 
 

P
age 46



32 
  

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Project brief: Partnership NPO Proposal  

(Submission of an Expression of Interest for Funding) 

Portfolio Holders:  

• Boston – Cllr Richard Austin 

• South Holland – Cllr Gary Taylor/Cllr Liz Sneath 

• East Lindsey – Cllr Steve Kirk/Cllr Adam Grist 

Date: 15th May 2022 

 

Introduction:  

Arts Council England (ACE) has launched its application guidance for organisations wishing to 

become a National Portfolio Organisation (NPO) for the period 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2026.  

Being a National Portfolio Organisation provides opportunities for creative and cultural organisations 

to plan and deliver over the long term. It is the bedrock of ACE funding and the work of all NPOs is 

seen as vital to the success and development of the cultural sector. 

The investment provides organisations with three-year financial support as they recover from the 

impact of the pandemic.  

Organisations are required to put the public at the heart of their work and be committed to working 

collaboratively with each other and with other individuals and organisations within communities. 

All National Portfolio Organisations will play a central role in helping Arts Council England deliver 

their strategy, Let’s Create. The NPO application needs to clearly demonstrate how we would 

support at least one of the strategy outcomes and what plans we have to imbed their investment 

principles.  

The ‘Let’s Create’ Strategy has three Outcomes: Creative People, Cultural Communities and A 

Creative and Cultural Country. Their Investment Principles are Ambition and Quality, Dynamism, 

Environmental Responsibility, and Inclusivity and Relevance. 

A National Portfolio Organisation will take a lead in realising the vision which Let’s Create sets out: 

‘By 2030, England will be a country in which the creativity of each of us is valued and given the 

chance to flourish and where everyone has access to a remarkable range of high-quality cultural 

experiences.’ 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership: 

Historically ACE investment in some areas of England has been too low, so ACE has set out lists of 

Levelling Up for Culture Places and Priority Places that they’ll prioritise working with. These include: 

• Priority Place: East Lindsey and Boston 

• Levelling Up for Culture Places: South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston 

In 2021, East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council received ACE funding to develop a 

Cultural Strategy. A Cultural Framework with two place based action plans has been created and is 

currently in draft form ready to proceed through the Council adoption process. ACE was receptive to 

extending this piece of work to reflect the new geography of the Partnership and incorporate the 

Page 49



South Holland District Council area. The lack of NPO applications was highlighted to the team during 

their last meeting with ACE. 

An ‘Introductory Conversation’ was held on Thursday 21 April to indicate an intention for the South 

and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership to submit an application for National Portfolio 

Organisation funding. A lead authority would be required to be the accountable body – proposed to 

be East Lindsey District Council. The Partnership’s NPO would focus on three centres – Boston 

Guildhall (Boston Borough Council), Asycoughfee Hall (South Holland District Council and the 

Colonnade at Sutton on Sea (East Lindsey District Council). 

NPO funding would support a programme of art and culture across the Partnership, as well as 

enabling an education, research and skills programme to be developed.  

The proposition is focussed on our heritage and internationally and nationally significant stories. The 

growth of the Partnership area from its Maritime, Coast and Fens location continues to impact and 

influence migration, trade and our ‘places’. We boast a very rich base of recognisable, high status 

events, episodes, histories and critical individuals that sits equitably across all the Partnership areas. 

The revenue funding would enable investment into people, programmes and activity, whilst building 

on the capital investment from the Towns Fund (and future Levelling Up Funding bids). 

The application will reference and support the draft Cultural Framework for Boston and East Lindsey. 

The Consultation and the drafting of the document was commissioned to Tom Fleming Creative 

Consultancy, who has also supported the team with the creation of the NPO proposal, supporting 

the bid development process through: 

• Support and advice on gathering key data to feed into the bids, 

• Helping to shape the narrative and strategic direction and ambition for the bids, 

• Reviewing and advising on the activities for the first year of the programmes 2022/23 that 

must be included within activity templates. 

Project objectives(s):  

• Secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding 

• Support a cultural and place based approach to regeneration, in line with the Levelling Up 

White Paper 

• Link culture with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives 

NPO application: 

Activity Plan: 

• Bring to life the history and international connections of trade through a programme of light 

installations/displays developed through engagement with schools/educational providers 

and community groups working together with artists. 

• Develop a 21st Century Digital Assets Collecting Policy to ensure that today’s stories around 

cultural diversity, migration and community inclusion is captured.  Working with people 

from lower socio-economic backgrounds and minority groups. 

• Work with local businesses to share stories from across our Maritime, Coast and Fens and 

the heritage of the wider food industry across the districts. Increasing engagement of low 

skilled and diverse workforces with the arts through food. 

Page 50



• Create opportunity for intercultural exchange to develop a cultural ecosystem brokering 

connections between communities through arts and culture - providing an opportunity to 

build the international relationships and connections ahead of 2030. 

• Support collaboration and exchange programmes across the Midlands to establish the area 

as a hub for regional cultural development, with an exemplar approach to the inclusion of 

heritage within arts and culture. 

• Develop a programme of mentoring for local artists with nationally recognised leaders 

within their media to enable a legacy of learning through arts and culture to connect our 

Places and Stories across the partnership and bring to life our heritage to instil Pride of Place 

across our Communities. 

• Celebrate the Victorian Heritage of our coastline through nostalgic engagement sessions and 

festivals to develop cultural trails in the form of traditional seaside heritage. 

• Expand the outdoor experiences of our natural heritage and landscapes throughout the 

seasons linking the districts to international seasonal activities and engage all nationalities 

within our communities to share their cultural heritage. 

• Introduce stronger cultural programming through working with partners to develop touring 

and visitor experiences to enhance and increase the reach of activities into all communities 

and create a stronger cultural package for all. 

Governance: 

We have set out that Culture underpins our approach to place‐making and renewal in our new 
(draft) Cultural Framework. It sets out the following themes: Culture for All, Health and Wellbeing, 
Cultural Infrastructure and Cultural Places. As part of the NPO Proposal, the delivery of actions for 
each theme will be overseen by a new Culture Board for the South & East Lincolnshire Council 
Partnership. This will offer dynamic leadership and a collective voice for culture. This involves 
representation from each of the three Councils and the County, leading cultural organisations, 
education providers and representation from freelancers and micro creative enterprises. The SELCP 
Culture Board is of a similar model to the Creativity Board being established in North East 
Lincolnshire. This will facilitate joint working from the Humber to the Wash: an unprecedented 
cultural partnership opportunity for Greater Lincolnshire. 
 
Timeline:  

• Deadline for EOI 18 May 

• Spring to September 2022: Assessment, balancing and decision-making 

• October 2022: Sharing funding decisions  

• October 2022 – February 2023: Funding agreements 

• 1 April 2023 - The 2023-26 Investment Programme will come into effect 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: Corporate and Community Committee 

DATE: 26 May 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Cultural Framework (Draft) 

 

Consultation on the draft Cultural Framework 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Richard Austin 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Deputy Chief Executive - Growth 

Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director for Economic Growth 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This reports seeks to provide background information on the development of the Cultural 

Framework for Boston and East Lindsey. 

The draft Framework document is shared with the Culture and Community Committee for 

constructive comment and feedback prior to proceeding with formal adoption through the 

Council process. 

It also notes that during the development of the Framework there has been an opportunity to 

submit an Expression of Interest for National Portfolio Organisation status with Arts Council 

England. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Members are requested to support the formal adoption of the Cultural Framework for 

Renewal through the Council process and provide comment on the draft document. 

 

2. Support the extension of the work to reflect the Partnership with South Holland. 

 

3. Note the submission of the Expression of Interest for National Portfolio Organisation 

status with Arts Council England. 

 

Page 53



2 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

A formally adopted Cultural Strategy and agreement of priority actions will provide Boston 

Borough Council with the cultural principles we want to see reflected in each place. In addition, 

the Cultural Framework will support funding applications, increase engagement with art and 

culture and facilitate greater connectivity.  

It has also already provided the Partnership with the opportunity to submit an Expression of 

Interest to seek to secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding. 

The ambition of the Framework and associated NPO status supports a wider cultural and place 

based approach to regeneration, in line with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and 

links culture with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Arts Council England has provided the funding to create the Cultural Framework, therefore it is a 

requirement of the funding to produce the strategic document. 

Adoption of the Framework will proceed through the Council process following consultation. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Arts Council England (ACE) awarded funding to both East Lindsey District Council and Boston 

Borough Council to support the development of cultural strategies. 

 

1.2 Following the Strategic Alliance with Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council in 

August 2021 we agreed to align the two strategies.  

 

1.3 An extension to the work was granted to ensure a connected approach to both projects. We 

proposed a joint strategy or framework, which provides both authorities with the cultural 

principles we want to see reflected in each place.  

 

1.4 The work was informed by the current research and engagement which has been led by Magna 

Vitae, whilst engaging with Transported (and other partners) to ensure a solid and robust 

foundation for the area.  

 

1.5 Each grant enables a necessary place-focused approach for culture in Boston and East Lindsey. 

A timeline was agreed to produce a cultural strategy adopted by the Alliance with place-based 

plans for each area to support funding applications, increase engagement with art and culture 

and facilitate greater connectivity.  

 

 

 

 

Page 54



3 
 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 Set against a backdrop of Covid recovery and a new South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership, the new Cultural Framework (draft) seeks to build on the significant progress in 

recent years to support cultural activity, build capacity, and demonstrate commitment to 

excellence and innovation in cultural infrastructure, partnership and programming. 

 

2.2  The Framework aligns with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and funding 

opportunities of Cultural Investment through Town Deals and Levelling Up Funds. It is also 

symbiotic with recent policy for the visitor economy and the ambition for Culture to support 

communities’ health and well-being.  

 

2.3  Both Boston and East Lindsey have been designated Arts Council Priority Places – areas where 

there is significant potential but also one where multiple barriers have historically stood in the 

way of system-wide cultural renewal.  

 

2.4 Consultation through a programme of workshops and interviews has informed the draft 

document. An online survey across East Lindsey and Boston gathered a wider range of opinions. 

Key points included: 

 

2.4.1 50% felt there weren’t sufficient or appropriate venues, with cost or administrative barriers cited 

alongside the lack of purpose built cultural infrastructure for some types of cultural activity. 

 

2.4.2 The importance of collaboration and creative organisations to freelancers was clearly seen with 

82% having worked with a cultural organisation in the area, 68% outside the area, and 16% 

internationally and 63% with an organisation in another sector (e.g. technology, health, 

wellbeing and tourism). 

 

2.4.3 67% felt there weren’t enough live events indicating an appetite for more. They felt cultural 

activity was affordable (53%), open and inclusive (54%) which reflects the community nature of 

much activity. 

 

2.4.4 Transport, size and the rural nature of the area were frequently cited as barriers. 

 

2.5 The draft Cultural Framework at Appendix A has proposed Four Strategic Themes emerging 

from the Consultation and Research: Culture for All; Health and Wellbeing; Cultural 

Infrastructure and Cultural Places. 

 

2.6 Multiple barriers have historically stood in the way of system-wide cultural renewal. The area’s 

ageing population and sustained loss of younger talent, limited transport links, health and 

wellbeing indicators, fragmented communities, and lack of critical mass in a range of industries, 

are commonly identified as challenging features or as barriers to cultural development.

 However, there is significant potential through an asset-based perspective with heritage, 

natural and built environment, building on our existing cultural offer and taking full advantage 

of the ambition and aspirations of the people. 

 

Page 55



4 
 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1 The draft Cultural Framework for Renewal sets out the context for the strategic approach to 

Culture across the Partnership and the Consultation feedback. Four strategic themes identify 

the barriers, opportunities and priorities. East Lindsey and Boston have place-based priority 

actions. 

3.2 Feedback from Arts Council England has recently been formally provided and needs to be 

integrated into the draft Cultural Framework.  

3.3 Feedback from the informal Cabinet and member briefing included the following points: 

Alignment with the Boston Historic Place Panel recommendations; reference the NPO group led 

by Magna Vitae; add case studies; provide hard copies; share with High Street Task Force 

support; reference the Local Listing project and improve references to the Buoy art work trail 

and the need for further promotion. These recommendations require integrating into the final 

document. 

3.4 During the development of the Cultural Framework and its Council adoption process, there has 

been further opportunity through meetings with Arts Council England to extend this piece of 

work to reflect the new geography of the Partnership and incorporate the South Holland 

District Council area.  

3.5 The lack of NPO applications was also highlighted to the team during their last meeting with 

Arts Council England - being a National Portfolio Organisation provides opportunities for 

creative and cultural organisations to plan and deliver over the long term. It is the bedrock of 

ACE funding and the work of all NPOs is seen as vital to the success and development of the 

cultural sector. An ‘Introductory Conversation’ was held on Thursday 21 April to indicate an 

intention for the South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership to submit an application for 

National Portfolio Organisation funding. A lead authority would be required to be the 

accountable body – proposed to be East Lindsey District Council. The Partnership’s NPO would 

focus on three centres – Boston Guildhall (Boston Borough Council), Asycoughfee Hall (South 

Holland District Council and the Colonnade at Sutton on Sea (East Lindsey District Council). 

3.6 NPO funding would support a programme of art and culture across the Partnership, as well as 

enabling an education, research and skills programme to be developed. The NPO funding 

opportunity presented an opportunity to support the priority actions arising from the Cultural 

Framework. Please see Annex B. 

3.7 The revenue funding would enable investment into people, programmes and activity, whilst 

building on the capital investment from the Towns Fund (and future Levelling Up Funding bids). 

3.8 The application has referenced and supported the draft Cultural Framework for Boston and East 

Lindsey. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

A formally adopted Cultural Strategy and agreement of priority actions will provide Boston Borough 

Council with the cultural principles we want to see reflected in each place. In addition, the Cultural 

Framework will support funding applications, increase engagement with art and culture and facilitate 

greater connectivity.  

Page 56



5 
 

It has also already provided the Partnership with the opportunity to submit an Expression of Interest to 

seek to secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding. 

The ambition of the Framework and associated NPO status supports a wider cultural and place based 

approach to regeneration, in line with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and links culture 

with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives. 

APPENDICES 

(If none then insert the word ‘None’ and delete the below text/boxes). 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Draft Cultural Framework for Renewal 

APPENDIX B NPO Briefing 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Cabinet Briefing 9th February 2022 

  

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 
CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY COMMITTEE – WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

 

MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 
 

PRESENTED OR 
FACILITATED BY 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER (PFH) 

    

26 MAY 2022 
 

1. Cultural Strategy  
2. Guildhall Recovery 
 

Lydia Rusling  
 Phil Perry  

  

  
Cllr Richard Austin 

    

14 JULY 2022 1. UK Shared Prosperity Fund  
2. Housing Benefits Update 

 
Sharron Hammond  

  

    

6 OCT 2022     

    

1 DEC 2022    

    

2 FEB 2023     

    

16 MAR 2023    
    

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	1 BOSTON GUILDHALL RECOVERY
	2 CULTURAL STRATEGY
	Appendix B - NPO Briefing
	Cultural Strategy Report

	3 WORK PROGRAMME

